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1
2 UNITED STATES DIS
3 DISTRICT OF NEVADA
4 ,
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,
5
~ Plaintiff,
5 _ :
Y.
71 , ORDER
I IRWIN SCHIFF, CYNTHIA NEUN,
8 LAWRENCE N. COHEN aka LARRY
COHEN, individually and doing business as
9 | FREEDOM BOOKS, www.livetaxfree.com,
wWwWWw.paynoincometax.com, and
10) www.ischiff.com,
1 . Defendants.

-
N
—

13

14

15 || business as Freedom Books are promoting through consulting services, websites, and tax-
16| scam packages the filing of ‘“zero-income” federal income tax retirns, and directing their
17| customers to inundate the IRS, federal courts and Department of Justice with frivolous

18 lawsﬁ'il'é‘ and IRS hédrings.” The E‘oxﬁ;ildi'ﬁt alléges that défendants feciiiit Clstorners 16 the
19| zero-income tax return scheme by falsely stating that income eamned by individuals is not
20| subject to federal income taxes. Defendants then advise customers to file zero-income tax
21

22 {| help customers prepare other frandulent tax documents.

23

24

26

26 tax liability), § 6694 (preparing any part of a return

The United States has filed a motion for a preliminary injunction against defendants

pursuant to 26 U.S.C, §§ 7402, 7407 and 7408. According to the complaint, defendants doing

returns; assist customers to submit false W-4 forrs to stop withholding taxes from wages; and

After a noticed hearing, the court on March 19, 2003, issued a temporary restraining
order (#13) which enjoined defendants from engaging in activity subject to penalty under 26

U.S.C. § 6700 (promoting abusive tax shelters), § 6701 (aiding and abeiting understatement of
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1 | unrealistic position); § 6695 (failing to sign and furnish the correct identifying number on tax -
2 || returns that they prepare), and engaging in other fraudulent or deceptive conduct that

3 | substantially interferes with the-preper-eadministration-of the IRS Code. The activities

4 | proscribed by the restraining order include the sale and distribution of the book The Federal

5 | Mafia and other books, videotapes, seminars, packages, and consultations that provide

6 | instructions on how to file or submit false or fraudulent returns and tax forms.

7 A preliminary injunction hearing was conducted on April 11, 2003. Following the

8 || hearing, the court ordered post—hearing‘bricfs'be filed by May 1, 2003, and allowed reply

9 || briefs to be filed on or before May 12, 2003. Upon consideration of the evidence and |
16 arghments, the court makes the following determinations, which shall be construed as findings
11]} of fact and conclusions of law.

12§ I Jurisdiction

13 Title 26 U.S.C, section 7408 authorizes an action to enjoin promoters of abusive tax

14| shelters “from further engaging in conduct subject to penalty under section 6700 (relating to
15| penalty for promoting abusive tax shelters, etc.) or section 6701 (relating o penalties for

16 aiding and abetting understatement of tax liability).” 26 U.S.C. § 7408(a).! Section 7408

17 || requires a finding that the person has engaged in the conduct subject to penalty under §§ 6700
18 | or 6701, and that injunctive relief is appropriate to prevent recurrence of such conduct.

18 Section 6700(a) authorizes the imposition of a penalty on any person who:
20 (1) (A) organizes (or assists in the organization of) —

21 (i) a partnership or other enrity,

22 (ii) any investment plan or arrangement, or

23
24 'Defendants argue that the § 7408 language authorizing injunctions against persons who
25 “further engage in conduct subject to penalty,” must be read to require the government to have

imposed a penalty before an injunction would be authorized. A plain reading of the statute,
26 however, requires only that an individual be engaging in activity “subject to penalty.” Because
defendants offer no case law in support, their argument must be rejected.
X ,‘
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(iii) any other plan or arrangement, or

(B)  participates (directly or indirectly) in the sale of any interest in an entity
or plan or arrangement referred to in subparagraph (A), and
(2)  makes or furnishes or causes another person to make or fumnish (in connection
: with such organization or sale) — :

(A) astatemnent with respect to the allowability of any deduction or credit,
the excludability of any income, or the securing of any other tax benefit
by reason of holding an interest in the entity or participating in the plan
or arrangement which the person knows or has reason to know is false or
fraudulent as to any material matter, or

(B) a gross valuation overstatement as to any matenial matter . . ..

‘Title 26 U.S.C. section 7407 authorizes a court to enjoin a person from acting as an
income tax return preparer if that person has repeatedly (1) engaged in conduct subject to
penalty‘under § 6694 (which prohibits the preparation or submission of a return containing an
unrealistic position), or § 6695 (which mandates that a return preparer sign returns and
include his identifying number); (2) misrepresented his eligibility 1o practice before the IRS,
or otherwise misrepresented his experience or education as a return preparer, or (3) engaged
in any other fraudulent or deceptive conduct substantially interfering with the proper
administration of the tax laws. Title 26 U.8.C. section 7402(a) authorizes district courts to
issue injunctions "as may be necessary or appropriate for the enforcement of the internal

The government bears the burden of proving each element necessary for the issuance of

an injunction by a preponderance of the evidence. United States v. Estate Preservation Servs.,

202 F.3d 1093, 1098 (9th Cir, 2000). Because § 7408 expressly authorizes the issuance of an

injunction, the traditional requirements for equitable relief need not be satisfied. Id.

IL Violations of § 6700
To establish a violation of § 6700 (promoting abusive tax shelters), warranting an

injunction under § 7408, the United States must show that:

P. 0b/3¢
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1 (1)  the defendants organized or sold, or participated in the organization or sale of an
, entity, plan, or arrangement; : '
‘ (2)  they made or caused to be made false or fraudulent statements concerning the
3 | T “taxbenefitsto-bederived-from-the-entity; plan-or arrangement;—. ..
4 (3)  they know or had reason to know that the statements were false or fraudulent;
5 4) the false or fraudulent staternents pertained to a material matter; and
6 (5)  aninjunction is necessary to prevent recurrence of this conduct.
7 || Estate Preservation, 202 F.3d at 1093. Here, the government has proved these elements as to
8 || each of the individual defendants. ,
9 A.  Organization, sale and participation in organization or sale of plan or
0 arrangement ‘
1 _
, The government’s documentation in support of its motion for a preliminary injunction
1 : .
shows that defendants have organized or sold, or participated in the organization or sale of a
12 f—
3 plan or arrangement which assists customers to file or submit false federal income tax returns
1
and W-2 forms.?> Defendant Schiff sells books, tapes and other products over the internet and
14
through Freedom Books, his store in Las Vegas, Nevada, and other avenues, with the purpose
15
of advising purchasers about how to “legally stop paying taxes.” Cantrell Decl,, attachment at
16 : .
. 003 (hereafter “Cantrell”). These products and packages of products are advertised from
1 .
between $10 to over $1600. Schiff also markets seminars and workshops to instruct attendees
on how to stop paying taxes at $150 per person/$200 per couple. Cantrell, at 016. Schiff also
19 :
offers $50 letter-wriring services and “personal consults” for $300 per hour. Schiff's
20
21
22 *Defendants argue that their witnesses testified that it was “their own independent research
23 (initially triggered by the book) that led them to the belief {in Schiff’s theories],” and therefore,
what they purchased from Schiff was not a tax shelter, but information to “lead them to the law
24 Such a pseudo-psychological dissection of what motivates Schiff” s customers to adopt his scheme
is untenable. Schiff’s customers’ personal substantiation of Schiff’s theories does not negate the
o5 || influence of the scheme on their actions. As discussed later, the government presented evidence
of, and Schiff’s own witness testified to, the use of the exact materials provided in Schiff’s
o || publications. No one could independently arrive, without deviation, at the exact same theories,
and create the identical materials contained in Schiff’s scherme. |
4
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organization promises to “guide you in selecting the materials you need to be Income Tax

Free!” Cantrell, at 003.

Schiff’s operation is based on the premise that “the income tax is voluntary,” and cites
a variety of statements and information to that effect, Cantrell, at 005-014. Not surprisingly, |
many of these statements and information are taken out of context, and none of them carries

the weight of legal precedent on the legitimacy of the tax positions Schiff takes. The plan then

introduces customers to Schiff’s zero-income tax scheme. Cantrell, at 002, 040-042. Pursuant

to the scheme, Schiff advises his customers that “{f}or income tax purposes, you can legally
report “zero’ income and pay no income taxes regardless of how much you might have
earned.” Cantrell, at 003, Schiff justifies this claim by asserting that there is “no law
requiring anyone to pay income tax.” Cantrell, at 002 Rather, Schiff takes the position that
the Constitution limits Congress’ power to tax only ‘“‘corporate profits.” According to Schiff,
"‘[f]or tax purposes, ‘income’ only means corporate ‘prbﬁt.' Therefore, no individual recéives
anything that is reportable as ‘income.’ In essence we have a profits tdx. not an incofne tax.”
Cantrell, at 060.

Central to Schiff’s zero-income scheme is the book he authored entitled The Federal
Mafia: How the Government Illegally Imposes and Unlawfully Collects Income Taxes.
(hereafltcr The Federal Mafia). Schiff identifies The Federal Mafia as the starting point of his
program, and stafes that “[i}t shows you how to file the zero return, stop your wage
withholding, and explains the basics.” Cantrell, at 062. Schiff also advertises his program and
services on the internet through testimonials, some of which identify only The Federal Mafia
as the resource for avoiding paying taxes. See Cantrell, at 029, 030, 031, and 035-036. The

Federal Mafia is priced at $38, and is promoted throughout Schiff’s online marketing of his

seminars and materials. Advertising for the book states that it “provides the information and
documents required to imunediately stop your wage withholding, and to file a request for a

refund of all the taxes you paid.” Cantrell, at 018. The Federal Mafia also features

5

P. 07/37
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1 || prominently in each of Schiffs instructional packages separately priced at $80, $175, $250,
2 || $295, $795, and $1060. '
3- The Federal Mafia-is largely-autobiographical, containing.in large part Schiff’s anti-tax
4 || and anti-government diatribes and theories. The book also contains Schiff’s postulations
B || about the voluntariness of income tax, and how federal income tax assessment is the true tax
6 | scam. The Federal Mafia also touts Schiff as a “tax consultant,” and references his
7 || background in accounting, economics, actuarial science and law as qualifications for his
8 | services. The Federal Mafia, back cover.
9 True to its promise, The Federal Mafia contains specific instructions on how to stop
10| employers from withholding taxes by submitting an “exempt” W-4, and how to file “zero
11] income” tax returns. Seg The Federal Mafia; at 154-68, 244-45, 274-7S. Schiff’s promotional
12} materials include a sample “Zero Return” and advise that it be filed “only by artaching to it our
13 || two-page attachment.” Cantrell, at 040. The Federal Mafia includes a one page attachment to
14 ) be filed with the “Zero Return.” See The Federal Mafia, at 275, At the bottom of the page is
15| the following “important” notice:
16 This actachment has now been expanded to two pages and includes vital issues not fully
developed in The Federal Mafia. The new artachment cites 17 court decisions, 13
17 statutes, and numerous other official sources {o establish your claim that.you had
“zero” income and are entitled to a full refund of ail the taxes you paid for that year—a
18 claim not previously developed in this book. The new, expanded attachment is~ .
- ... .—automatcally included when The Federal Mafia is ordered from Freedom Books. If
19 you purchased this book in a bookstore, send us your sales slip and a stamped, self-
addressed envelope, and we will send you the new attachment at no charge.
20 The Federal Mafia, at 275. Thus, the two-page attachment updates the existing attachment in
21 the book at no additional charge. |
22 The Internal Revenue Service has identified nearly 5,000 zero-income fedefal income
28 tax rél;ums filed by some 3,100 customers of Schiff’s organization during the past three years
24 using Schiff’s two-page attachment referenced in The Federal Mafia, supplied with its
z: purchase, and identified by promotional materials as a requirement to the filing of the zero-
6
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income tax return tutored by The Federal Mafia and other of Schiff’s instructional services.
Henline Decl.(hereafter “‘Henline”), at para. 14. In addition to that documentary evidence,
during the-preliminary. injunction hearing,-Schiff’s witness-Robert Wesley.testified that he

obtained the zero-income return that he filed from The Federal Mafia. The IRS estimated that

these filings represented $56 million in attempted tax evasion. Henline, at para, 17.

Defendant Neun sells Schiff's tax materials, promotes Schiff’s packages, and charges a

-fee to appear with customers at IRS audits and IRS appeals hearings as a “witness.” Cantrell,

at 066, 087-88, and 093. Neun also has prepared Schiff’s zero-income federal tax retums. for
1998 through 2001. Henline, Exhibits 3-6.
Defendant Cohen sells Schiff’s materials and promotes Schiff’s packages and seminars

through Freedom Books. See Holland Decl., Exhibits 1 and 2. Cohen has also prepared zero-

income tax-rerurns based on Schiff’s tax-scheme materials.. Id.

B. False and frandulent nature of statements and defendants’ Igowledg'e

Schiff’s contention that the imposition of a validly enacted income tax by Congress
violates the taxing clauses of the Constitution has been rejected repeatedly by the Supreme
Court and the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals. Seec United States v. Sullivan, 274 U.S. 259,
263-264 (1927) (defendant’s income subject to tax); Brushaber v. Unjon Pac. R.R. Co., 240
U.S. 1,'1'9"—'20 (1916) (the right of Congress to impose income tax cannot be doubted); Tyee
Realty Co, v. Anderson, 240 U.S. 115, 117-18 (1916) (income tax constitutional); United
States v. Nelson (In_re Becraft), 885 F.2d 547, 548-49 (9th Cir.1989) (imposing sanctions on

counsel in criminal appeal for challenging Eonstitutionality of tax codes, holding such

challenges "patent{ly] absurd| ];' and frivolous when "the Supreme Court and the lower federal

courts have both implicitly and explicitly recognized the Sixteenth Amendment's authorization
of a non-apportioned direct income tax on United States citizens residing in the United States

and thus the validity of the federal income tax laws as applied to such citizens"); Grimes v.

Po U4/73¢
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Comm’r, 806 F.2d 1451, 1453 (Sth Cir.1986) ("There can be no doubt that the tax on income
is constitutional."). |
-TPurthermore;- Schiff” s-claim that paying-taxes is-voluntary is knowingly false. Schiff,

above all, is aware that citizens have a legally enforceable obligation to pay federal income

taxes. In 1978, Schiff was convicted of failure to file personal income tax returns for 1974 and

1975. On appeal, Schiff did not challenge the fact that he was required to file a return showing
his income; rather he successfully claimed that admission of a videotape of a television talk
show was unduly prejudicial to his good faith defense. See United States v. Schiff, 612 F.2d
73 (2d Cir. 1979). A subsequent conviction for failure to file personal income tax rewurms for

1974 and 1975 was affirmed without opinion in 1981. See United States_v. Schiff, 647 F.2d

163 (2d Cir. 1981). Schiff’s 1985 conviction for attempted tax evasion and willful failure to
“file a corporate tax return was affirmed by United States v. Schiff, 801 F.2d 108.(2d Cir.

1986), cert. deniégl, 480 U.S. 495 (1987). The first three counts of the indictment against
Schiff in his 1985 conviction charged that he had “knowingly attempt{ed] to evade and defeat”
the income tax owed by him for each of the three years in question by failing to make tax
retumns, failing to pay the income tax he owed and concealing and attempting to conceal his
income.” Id. at 109, “Schiff’s defense at trial was that he believed in good faith that the

income tax was voluntary, and that he was, therefore, not required to pay the tax.” Id. at 110

o — s ——— e e o e e e

(emphasis added). In its opinion affirming Schiff's conviction, the Court of Appeals

admaonished:

It is well established that the good faith defense encompasses risunderstanding of the
law, not disagreement with the law. The distinction is necessary to the function of the
1ax system. Without it, any taxpayer could evade tax obligations simply by stubbornly
refusing to admit error despite the receipt of any number of authoritative statements of
the law. At some point, such stubbomness becomes unreasonable; the line is crossed
between misunderstanding and disagreement and the taxpayer can no longer
successfully assert a defense of good faith.

Id. at 112 (citations omitted).

10737
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That Schiff has no misunderstanding of the falsity of the claim that income tax is
voluntary is further evidenced by his many losses in civil tax cases. In Schiff v. United States,

©919F:2d4 830 (2dCir- 1996},-ccﬂ."dcnied-, 501.8.42381991); the Second Circuit affirmed

an appeal from a summary judgment against Schiff in a tax refund case, holding that “Schiff’s
background makes it inconceivable that he was unaware of his obligation to file returns and
pay taxes.” Id. at 833-34. In that same case, the Second Circuit described Schiff as “an.
‘extremist who reserve[s] the right to interpret the decisions of the Supreme Court as he read(s]
them from his layman’s point of view regardless of and oblivious to the interpretations of the
judiciary.” Id. at 834. The Tax Court, too, has affirmed a fraud penalty and imposed a
$25,000 fine on Schiff for offering specious arguments against federal income tax, including
the argument that income taxation is not authorized by the taxing clauses of the United States .
Constitution. Schiff-v. Comm's; 63 T.C.M. (CCH) 2572 (1992).}

Furthermore, a number of individuals have been convicted of tax crimes after following
Schiff’s theories. See United States v. Burdett, 962 F.2d 228 (2d Cir. 1992) (affirming
conviction of defendant who was convinced in part by Schiff’s book entitled How Anyone

Can Stop Paying Taxes that the filing of a tax return was voluntary, and that his wages were

not taxable); United States v. Paynie, 978 F.2d 1177 (10th Cir. 1992) (same), cert. denicd, 508
U.S. 950 (1993); United States v. Middleton, 246 F.3d 825 (6th Cir. 2001) (affirming -

conviction of defendant who followed Schiff’s teachings and concluded that he had no
obligation to pay income tax); United States v. Dentice, 1999 WL 1038003 (9th Cir. 1999)

(unpublished*) (rejecting good faith defense in part because defendant could not reasonably

’Indeed, Schiff’s own counsel’s refusal to assert Schiff’s tax theories in the hearing on the
motion for preliminary irjunction should itself have sent a message to Schiff that his tax ideology
is legally frivolous. After Schiff’s counsel refused to assert Schiff’s theories in court, Schiff
dismissed her, and represented himself during the remainder of the hearing.

“This case is cited as evidence of Schiff's knowledge of the reception of his theories in the
Ninth Circuit, rather than for the propositions stated in the case.

9
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1 || rely on Schiff, Who. was neither a CPA nor an attorney and had himself been convicted of tax |

2 | evasipn). ‘

3 In-TheFederal Mafia, Sehiff-acknewledges-in a foomote that some-people persuaded

4 | by him to stop paying income taxes have gone to jail. The Federal Mafia, at 167 n.1. Schiff

5 || then wams that by using the information in his book (particularly the means for stopping the

6 || withholding of tax), the reader runs the risk of going to jail. Schiff’s attempt at a disclaimer,.

7 || along with the unanimous tide of cases adverse to the legal foundations of his programs, maké

8 || clear that Schiff is on notice of the law, notwithstanding his remonstrations that he is the one

9 | who is right, and that every single legal authority to the contrary is either bogus or unsound. |

10 Furthermore, Schiff’s attempt to distinguish the adverse cases on the ‘groun‘ds that they

11] do not specifically involve application of his zero-income tax scheme is totally unavailing. All

12} of Schiff’s schemes suffer from the same conceptual infirmities, rejected time and again by the

13| courts: that income taxes are voluntary; that there is no legal obligation to pay income taxes;

14| and that imposition of an income tax by Congress violates the taxing clauses of the

15! Constitution. Only the approaches to avoiding the payment of income tax are different. Schiff

16| cannot avoid the “know or had reason to know" standard by holding up a differently wrapped

17 || package. Schiff knows what’s in the box, and therefore knows better. See Estate

18 Preservation, 202 F.2d at 1103 (“The ‘knew or had reason to know’ standard therefore

191} includes ‘what a reasonable person in the [defendant’s] . . . subjective position would have

20|l discovered.””) (citations omitted).

21 If Schiff’s knowing marketing of his tax scheme were not enongh, he also falsely and

22} perversely tries to allay his customers’ reasonable fears of the civil or criminal consequences

23} for following his tax advice. On Schiff’s publicly posted online bulletin board, a customer

24| involved in legal proceedings expressed fear of the loss of her home and prison for following

25 Scﬁiff’s counsel. Schiff responded that “[nJo one is going to prison or is even being charged

26} criminally. ... You need to be stndying my material and finding a better confidence level. If
10
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you did that, you would not be so afraid!” Cantrell, at 072-074. The deceptive nature of
Schiff’s scheme is funfther illustrated by Schiff’s suggestions in The Federal Mafia that

-castomers cannetbe suecessfully presecuted for signing ‘W-4-forms falsely claiming exempt

status so long as the customers write “under duress” next to their signature on the form. See

The Federal Mafia, at 158-59. In addition, Schiff markets in The Federal Mafia his

availability as a witness and brief writer, suggesting falsely that these services will be material

‘in defending a criminal prosecution. See The Federal Mafia, at 266.

The government has also established that defendant Neun directly participated in the
organization and sale of the tax scheme, furnished false statements, and knew or had reason to
know that the siatements were false, Neun is Schiff’s long-time business partner. She has
advised individuals that “[t]he best reliance defense you can get is the attachment to your zero
rewurn,” and stated:that“[n}o one is-going-to prison or is even being charged criminally.”
Cantrell, at 066, 072. She endorses false testimonials on the successes of Schiff’s zero-income
program. Cantrell, at 21-25. And she has helped individuals fill out zero-income tax returns.
Henline, at Exhibits §, 6, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13.

~ The government has also shown defendant Cohen’s direct participation in and
knowledge of the falsity of the scheme. Defendant Cohen is an employee at Freedom Books.
On at léast one occasion, he assisted an individual in the filing of a zero-incame tax return.
Henline, at Exhibit 14. Cohen also prepared a zero-income remrﬁ for an undercover IRS
spécial agent posing as a customer and charged her $50. Cohen did not sign the ‘“return
preparer’ portion of the return, and told the undercover agent that not attaching Schiff’s two-
page attachment would make it more difficult for the IRS to detect Schiff’s and Cohen’s

customers. Henline, at Ex. 14 and Irey Decl., paras. 4-8 and Exhibits 1-3.

11
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In sum, the government has shown that defendants knowingly participated in and
promoted a tax scheme built on concepts and resulting in conduct that have been rejected by |
federateomrtst— — —— —— .

C.  Materiality

If a particnlar statement has a substantial impact on the decision-making process or

produces a substantial tax benefit to a taxpayer, the matter is properly regarded as “material”

within the meaning of § 6700. United States v. Estate Preservation Services, 38 F. Supp. 2d

846, 855 (E.D. Cal. 1998) (citing United States v. Buttorff, 761 F.2d 1056, 1059 (5th Cir.
1985)), aff’d, 202 F.3d 1093 (9th Cir. 2000). It cannot be seriously questioned that

defendants’ statements are material.

D. Likelihood of Future § 6700 Violations
- 7 — -Factars that the-court may consider in determining- the likelihood of future §-6700
violations, and thus, the need for an injunction, include: (1) the gravity of the harm caused by
the offense; (2) the extent of the defendant’s participation: (3) the defendant’s degree of
scienter, (4) the isolated or recurrent nature of the infraction; (5) the defendant’s recognition
(or non-recognition) of his own culpability: and (6) the likelihood that defendant’s occupation
would place him in a position where future violations could be anticipated. Estate
Preservation, 202 F.3d at 1105.

Here, recurrence of the violations is likely. Schiff organized the scheme, aﬁd he and
the other defendants have each participated in the sale and promotion of the scherhe which has

involved over 3,000 individuals and an estimated $56 million in attempted tax evasion; each

SDefendants argue that during the preliminary injunction hearing, the government was
bound to show Schiff’s witnesses the law that made them liable for income taxes. The legal
authority supporting the conclusion that defendants made or caused to be made false or fraudulent
statements conceming the tax benefits to be derived from the scheme was presented in the
government's briefs. Moreover, legal precedent rejecting the bases for Schiff’s scheme are
applied by this court whether presented by a party or not. Furthermore, that the government has
not brought criminal charges against defendants does not weaken its authority to pursue the civil
rejief available in this action.

12
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has done so knowingly and on numerous occasions; each is unapologetic and each is involved
directly with the scheme as a matter of employment. -
HE----Violations of - 6703 —  — ~- ~— - . —— : G — e

Under 26 U.S.C. §l 6701(a), “[alny person who (1) aids or assists in, procures, or
advises with respect to, the preparation or presentation of any portion of a return, affidavit,

claim or other document, (2) who knbws (or has reason to believe) that such portion will be

'used in connection with any material matter arising under the internal revenue laws, and (3)

who knows that such portion (if so used) would result in an understatement of the liability for
tax of another person” shall pay a penalry.

As previously discussed, the government has shown by a preponderance of the
evidence that Schiff, Neun and Cohen have violated § 6701 by preparing false tax returns and
other tax-related documents for-their customers, These retumns-and documents falsely report
thar their customers have no taxable income and no tax liability. Schiff, Neun, and Cohen
knew and intended that these documents would be used in connection with material tax
matters and result in the understatement of tax liability.

Defendants have failed to refute the government's evidence or raise legal authority
contrary to these findings. Therefore, their course of conduct in furtherance of the abusive tax
schemt;. is subject to the prelimiﬁaxy injunction as set forth below,

IV.  First Amendment |

The court must consider whether the preliminary injunction violates the First
Amendment. Defendants argue that any restriction of their activities or publications amounts
to an infringement of speech. The court is cognizant that “[tjemporary restraining orders and

permanent injunctions—i.e., court orders that actnally forbid speech activities—are classic

'examples of prior restraints, ” see Alexander v. United States, 509 U.S. 544, 550 (1993), and

that prior restraints are generally presumed unconstitutional. See New York Times Co. v
United States, 403 U.S. 713 (1971); Southeastern Promotions, Ltd.. v. Conrad, 420 U.S. 546,

13
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558 (1975) (“Any system of prior restraint, however, ‘comes to this Court bearing a heavy

73y

presumption against its constitutional validity.’”). However, as the Supreme Court has

~indicated, not all prior restraints are probibited. See Near v. State of Minnesota ex rel. Olson,

283 U.S. 697, 716 (1931). Indeed, numerous federal courts have imposed § 7408 injunctions
on similar abusive tax schemes without violating the First Amendment. See Estate
Preservation, 202 F.3d 1093; United States v. Raymond, 228 F.3d 804 (7th Cir. 2000), cert.
denied, 533 U.S. 902 (2001); United States v. Kaun, 827 F.2d 1144 (7th.Cir. 1987); United
States v. Smith, 657 F. Supp. 646 (W.D. La. 1986), aff’d, 814 F.2d 1086 (5th Cir. 1987);
United States v. White, 769 F.2d 511 (8th Cir. 1985); United States v. Buttorff, 761 F.2d
1‘656, 1066 (5th Cir. 198S); United States v. Bell, 238 P. Supp.2d 696 (M.D.. Pa. 2003);

i

United States v. Shugarman, 596 F. Supp. 186 (ED. Va. 1984); United States v. Savoie, 594
F. Supp. 678 (W.D.-La:'1984), See-also Nat: Commeodity and Banter Ass’n/Nat. Commodity
Exch. v. United States, 843 F. Supp. 655 (D. Colo. 1993) (dismissing suit raising First
Amendment challenge to § 6700 penalty), aff’d, 42 F.3d 1406 (10th Cir. 1994), cert. denied,
516 U.S. 807 (1995); Bell v. Rossott, 227 F. Supp.2d 315 (M.D. Pa. 2002) (dismissing

complaint seeking declaratory judgment that websites on tax law were protected by the First
Amendment).
As the court has previously explained, defendants knowingly promote and participate

in an abusive tax scheme that teaches taxpayers that they may lawfully file zero-income tax

returns and exempt withholding statements to avoid paying taxes, and assists them in doing so.

This message is subject to injunction as false, misleading and deceptive commercial speech,
incitement, and aiding and abetting illegal conduct as discussed below.

A. Commercial Speech

Commercial and noncommercial speech are protected under the First Amendment;
however, the Constitution accords less protection to commercial speech than other protecied

forms of expression. S.0.C.. Inc. v, County of Clark, 152 F.3d 1136, 1142 (9th Cir.) (citing

14

16/3¢




JUN—}_B—ZE% NhD 07:55 AM US ATTORNEYS OFF [CE

W O N DD N DA W NN -

N NN NN N D A4 @ a a2 @a a4 @ a3 a -
O G A W N = DO W 0 ~N O 0 & W.N = O

FAX NO. 7023886787

. . . .

P,

Central Hudson Gas & Elec. Corp. v. Public Serv. Comm’n of New York, 447 U.S. 557, 563
(1980)), amended, 160 F.3d 541 (1998).f The Supreme Court has acknowledged that the

~‘precise-botinds™ of commercial speech are “subject to doubt,” Zauderer v, Supreme Court of

Qhio, 471 U.S. 626, 637 (1985), and has candidly recognized “the difficulty of drawing bright

lines that will clearly cabin commercial speech in a distinct category.” Cincinnati v.

D_igcovéry Network, Inc., 507 U.S. 410, 419 (1993), Not unexpectedly, therefore, the Court

‘has defined comunercial speech in two ways. “Core” comumercial speech is an expression that

“does no more than propose a commercial transaction.” Seg Virginia Pharmacy Board v.
Virginia Citizens Consumer Council, Inc., 425 U.S. 748, 762 (1976). Core commercial speech

includes “adver{ising pure and Simple.” Zauderer, 471 U.S. at 637. The other definition of
commercial speech is- somewhat broader: “[E]ipression[s] related solely to the economic
interests of the speaker-and its audience.”> Central Hudson; 447 U S. at-S61-..
1. Comimercial Speech Aspects of the Scheme

In ruling that abusive tax schemes may be enjoined to the extent that the injunction
“proscribes . . . fraudulent conduct,” 202 F.3d at 1106, the Ninth Circuit explained in Bstate
Preservation that “a promoter’s statements regarding the tax benefits of his [abﬁsive tax
schemgs]" constitute commercial speech. 202 F.3d at 1106 (quoting Buttorff, 761 F.2d at

*There is no dispute that while the First Amendment protects commercial speech
generally, it does not protect false commercial speech. See 44 Liguormart, Inc. v. Rhode Island,
517 U.S. 484,497 n. 7 (1996) (“The First Amendrment does not protect commercial speech about
unlawful activities.”); Central Hudson, 447 U.S. at 562-63 (“[Tlhere can be no constitutional
objection to the suppression of commercial messages that do not accurately .inform the public
about lawful activity. The govemnment may ban forms of communication more likely to deceive
the public than to inform it.””); Virginia State Bd. of Pharmacy v. Virginia Citizens Consumer
Council, Inc., 425 U.S. 748, 771-72 n. 24 (1976) (“Untruthful speech, commercial or otherwise,
has never been protecied for its own sake. . . . The First Amendment . . . does not prohibit the
State from ensuring that the stream of commercial information flow{s] cleanly as well as
freely.”).

15
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1066). The Estate Prese;vgﬁén court affirmed an injunction that reached “the organizing,
promoting, marketing, or seiling,” of the scheme. 202 B.3d at 1096 n.3.7
——— —As-previously discussed;-Schiff*s-enterprise advertises-and-sells-books, tapes-and other
products over the internet, and through Freedom Books, his store in Las Vegas, Nevada, and
other avepues to promote his scheme. Schiff also advertises and markets serninars and -
workshops fo instruct attendees on how anyone can implement his formulas for avoiding |
payment of income taxes. As part of the scheme, Schiff offers for sale letter-writing services
and “‘personal consults.” He also holds himself out as a “tax consultant,” with experience and
background in fields related to taxation. |
Definitely, the portions of the scheme that would be considered “core” commercial
speech, i.e., that speech which proposes no more than a commercial transaction, may be
"enjoined if they are deceptive or misleading.. Such advertising of the scheme would include
statements or suggestions that (1) persons can legally stop paying taxes, or become tax free
through the use of the scheme, (2) income tax is voluntary, or that there is no law requiring
anyone to pay income tax, (3) there is no income (ax, only a profits tax, (4) it is legal to report
zero income regardless of what you may have earned. and (5) it is legal to stop the withholding
of taxes by submitting an “exempt” W-4 form.
" 'The extent to which commercial speech reaches beyond “core” commercial speech,
and incl_udes the broader category of “expression related solely to the economic interests of the

speaker and its audience,” is illustrated by the Ninth Circuit’s decision in Estate Preservation.

In that case, the court affirmed a § 7408 preliminary injunction against the organizers and

promoters of Estate Preservation Services (“EPS™), for violation of § 6700 in the marketing of

"The importance of Estate Preservation to this court’s First Amendment analysis cannot
be overstated. That case is the only Ninth Circuit precedent addressing a First Amendment
challenge to a § 7408 injunction based on § 6700 violations, The ACLU’s attempt to distinguish
Estate Preservation because it involves the marketing of abusive tax trusts is off the mark. The
schemes involved in Estate Preservation and the instant case share a common purpose, to avoid
taxes, a corrnon liability nnder § 6700, and common First Amendment considerations,

16
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trusts and other asset protection devices, including certain irrevocable non-grantor trusts called
“Asset Preservation Trusts” or “APTs”. 202 F.3d at 1097. Henkell, the c.entral figure in.
promoting-and organizing-the-activities of EPS;-established and conducred seminars during
which he advised individuals how to create and use APT’s to generate tax deductions and
reduce tax liability. To market the APTs, Henkell published a training manual. . The manual

“made numerous representations about the permissibility of tax deductions and credits

‘purportedly available to APTs.” 1d.

_The district court found that the manual, materials and representations by defendants
contained fraudulent statements regarding the use of the trusts,® and enjoined defehdant’s from
“organizing, selling, or assisting in the organization of an entity or otherwise promoting any
plan or-arrangement based upon” these statements. The preliminary injunction also prohibited
defendants from “‘organizing, promoting, marketing, or selling {the trusts], and any abusi‘ve tax
shelter, plan, or arrangement which advises or encourages taxpayers to attempt to violate
internal revenue laws or unlawfully evade the assessment or collection of their federal tax
liabilities.” 1d. at 1096 n. 3.

The Estate Preservarian court rejected a First Amendment challenge to the injunction,
holding that it “prescribes only fraudulent conduct.” Id. at 1106. In so doing, the court
observed that other courts have ﬁphcld similar injunctions in spite of First Amendment -
challenges, quoting Buttorff, 761 F.2d at 1066 (emphasis added):

[W]here it has been determined that (a promoter’s] statements regarding the tax benefits

of his trust, which constitute cornmercial speech, are misleading in the context

contemplated by Congress in enacting the statute, and the injunction prohibiting such
statements is adequately tailored and construed to enjoin only such commercial speech

which has been shown to be both misleading and likely to promote illegal activity, such
representations are not protected by the First Amendment. '

*The fraudulent statements concerned (1) the basis of property placed in trust; (2) the
strategy of “upstreamning” income; (3) the deductibility of personal expenses and the depreciation
of an owner-occupied home; and (4) the deductibility of certain donations to donor-directed
charitable foundations. Estate Preservation, at 1099.

17
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Buttorff, and the two 6ther cases cited by the Esrate Preservation court, United States v.
Kaup, 827 F.2d 1144 (7th Cir. 1987), and United States v. White, 769 F.2d 511 (8th Cir. 1985\),
éach applied-a-broader-definition-of cemmefsial -speech than-‘advertising, plain and simplé.’"
Buttorff involved a kit of trust forms that was marketed with the scheme and included a
declaration, introductory materials, and step-by step instructions for creating and maintaining
the trust. The promoter of the plan also participated in setting up the trusts and provided for the
preparation of his customers’ income tax returns. 761 F.2d at 1057 n.1. The cémmcrcial

speech in Buttorff reached “[a]ppellant’ls representations regarding the tax advantages of his

w 0 N O O p WN

trust.” Id. at 1066,

t

-
o

In _Kaun, the Seventh Circuit affirmed the injunction against a tax protest group that

11 promoted false plans to avoid the payment of taxes. Forms, pamphlets and information kits

12} were sold at the protest group’s meetings:  The Kaup court applied the Central Hudson

13| definition of commercial speech, “expression related solely to the economic interest of the

14 1 speaker and its evidence,” to reach not only advertising, but “marketing, or selling any

156§ documents or other information advising taxpayers that wages, salaries, or other income . . . are
16} not taxable.” 827 F.2d at 1152.

17 In White, the Eighth Circuit affirmed an injunction against a group that marketed to the

18 public a packet of materials consisting of a cassette tape and written materials (including

19} sample federal income tax forms). The materials contained “detailed instructions aboui false or
20§ fraudulent means to evade federal income taxes, especially as applied to the taxation of wages,
21} salaries or other compensation for labor or services.” 769 F.2d at 512. In addition to the

221 packets of materials, the group “orally instructed individuals and offered for sale materials on
23| how to harass and impede employees of the Internal Revenue Service (IRS).” Id.

24 In its First Amendment analysis, the White court applied the broader definition of

25} commercial speech:

26

18
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. Appellant next argues that the injunction constitutes an impermissible prior restraint in
violation of the first amendment. We disagree. Appellant’s representations were made
in connection with his efforts to promote and sell for profit [the plan) and thus constitute
commercial speech. . ..

e it B . e e mim et wom ¢ e § o= s o s i e mmem e e e e — ek r——— Y ——

The commercial speech in question in the present case, appellant’s representations
regarding the allowability of deductions, the excludability of income and the tax
benefits of the [plan], was not only completely misleading, but it also promoted tax
evasion and abusive tax avoidance.”

769 F.2d at 516, 517. The court went on to state that such misleading advertising may be

promotes an illegal activity or transaction.” Id.

Thus, Bstate Preservation, read in the context of its supporting case law, and in light of
the reach of the injunction it approved (prohibiting the “promoting, marketing or selling” of the
abusive tax shelter), must be taken to apply a definition of commercial speech broader than
“cofe” commerciai speech® h . B

In approving the broad terms of the injunction, the Estate Preservation court also took
into account that the promoters, all of whom were well-educated and familiar with tax matters,
were essentially selling fraudulent tax advice through the scheme. 202 F.3d at 1097, 1103.
Along these lines, the Estate Preservation court made a point of emphasizing that:

Appellants may continue to publish legitimate tax planning advice, even regarding

trusts. They are simply prohibited from advocating shelters that provide no legitimate

shelter from lawful taxation. Every honest and qualified tax consultant knows the
difference between legitimate and plainly illegitimate tax shelters. Appellants crossed
the line into the “plainly illegitimate™.
Id. at 1106. Given this context, the court determined that the injunction “proscribes only
fraudulent conduct.” Id. |

Similarly, the Buttorff and Kaun cases cited by Estare Preserv'gtiogg in its First

Amendment analysis also give weight to the tax-advice context of the prohibited speech. In

’In fact, the term “advertising™ is not found in the Bstate Preservation injunction.

19
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agreeing that the promoter of the tax scheme was engaged in commercial speech, the Buttorff

court explainedf |

~- — -—The-statements {appellant}h&smademhceming-theupurponedtax benefits of [the
scheme] were made in an effort to promote and sell the packaged trust forms and his
personal services in connection therewith, all for profit. The United States Supreme

Court has summarized the commercial speech doctrine in the context of advertising for

professional services: “Truthful advertising related to lawful activities is entitled to the

protections of the First Amendment. But when the particular content or method of the
advertising suggests that it is inherently misleading or when experience has proved that
in fact such advertising is subject to abuse, the States may impose appropriate
restrictions. Misleading advertising may be prohibited entirely.
761 F.2d at 1066. And in Kauq, the court ruled that “{i]nsofar as Kaun holds himself out as a
rax adviser, his advertising and marketing activities in that regard [i.e., within the Central
Hudson definition] are commercial speech.” 827 F.2d at 1152, See alsqo Raymond, 228 F.3d at
815 (false, deceptive or misleading commercial speech related to the provision of tax advice
may be prohibited); Smith; 657 F:-Supp. at 659 (bauning manual promoting-personal services
through commercial speech), _

Accordingly, the court follows Estate Preservation in applying a commercial speech
standard to expression involved in not only the advertising, but also the promoting, marketing
or selling of the scheme. Furthermore, following Estate Preservation, the court finds that to the
extent Schiff holds himself out to be a tax consultant, familiar with the taxing system, and

experienced in tax-related fields, the promotion, marketing and sales of the scheme involves the

offering of fraudulent tax advice, and is not protected by the First Amendment.'®

19 Indeed, as previously discussed, defendants’ sophistication and education in tax matters
meets the scienter requirement of a § 6700 violation.

20
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2. The Federal Mafia _

The American Civil Liberties Union of Nevada, in amicus curiae. (Ihcreafter the
“ACLU")," while taking no position on the merits of the tax plan,'? argues that a ban on the
sale of the book The Federal Mafia would amount to an impermissible prior restraint.
According to the ACLU, The Federal Mafia cannot be characterized as commercial speech

because (1) it does not fit the definition of commercial speech as proposing no more than a

‘comumercial transaction, (2) it is sold in bookstores and through the Intemet independent of the

tax scheme, and (3) it is not promoted through paid memberships involving face-to-face

communication. Thus, the ACLU urges that the court must apply the more stringent

Brandenburg i_néitement standard before subjecting the book to the preliminary injunction.
The court first considers wheih¢r the book qualifies as commercial speech. The ACLU

argues that the Supreme Court and the Ninth Circuit have recently applied the “core” notion of

commercial speech, and that the definition of expression that “does no more than propose a

comumercial transaction” should be used to characterize The Federal Mafia. Even if the court
applies just the “core” definition, however, the book contains “advertising pure and simple.”
The Federal Mafia includes not only a description of a number of other books written and
published by Schiff, but also a description of a cassette seminar and audio reports, and their
prices. The Federal Mafia, at 303-04, The advertisement for the cassette seminar declares that

the seminar contains hlghl;ghts from The Federal Mafia, and promises that “(i}f you are happy

with The Federal Mafia, you will be thoroughly delighted with this S 5 hour cassette seminar,”

As previously indicated, one “highlight” of The Federal Mafia is its reference to instructions

"The ACLU is joined in its briefs by the Association of American Publishers, Inc., the
American Booksellers Foundation for Free Expression, the Freedom to Read Foundation of the
American Library Association, and the PEN American Center.

**The ACLU stakes out its position with respect to the scheme in these words: “[W]e take
no position on the truth or falsity of any of Mr. Schiff’s theories;” the scheme is “beyond the
scope of our concems; "and “[The Federal Mafia] contains significant political discourse. Atleast
that is Mr. Schiff's contention,”

21
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and materials to be used in Submitting false withholding forms and zero-income tax retums.
Among the andio reports advertised in the book are those that promise to “deliver explosive
new information-to-enable-us to neutralize and frastrate-IRS- procedures in-practically evervy‘
situation,” and provide a-document “that will allow you to blow away all IRS claims that you
owe them any money whatsoever for income taxes.” | .

The ACLU also suggests that The Federal Mafia “does no more than propose a

commercial transaction” because it contains autobiographical and political expression.

0 N O W N -

However, commenting on public issues in the context of a commercial transaction does not

9 || elevate speech from commercial to political rank. See Bolger v. Youngs Drug Products Corp.,

10} 463 U.S. 60, 68 (1983) (“[Aldvertising which ‘links a product to a current public debate’ is not
11 thereby entitled to the constitutional protection afforded noncommercial speech.”) (citing

12 || ‘Ceniral Hudson, 447 U.S. at 563 n:S); Zanderer, 471 U.S. at 637 n.7. (same). -

13 Furthermore, the commercial speech components of The Federal Mafia are not

14§ “inextricably intertwined” with its protected expression. S¢e Discovery Network, 507 U.S. at
18| 426 n. 21; Bd. of Trustees of the State Univ, of New York v. Fox, 492 U.S, 469, 474-75 (1989)

16} (“No law of man or nature makes it impossible to sell housewares without teaching home

17 | economics, or to teach home economics without selling housewares.”). Likewise, “no law of
18 man or nature makes it impossible” for Schiff to publish his ideclogy or comrment on matters of
19| public concern without advertising his tax scheme or the products related to the scheme. The
20} commiercial speech found in The Federal Mafia does not help finance the publication of the

21 book, as outside advertising often finances publications. Rather, the advertising in The Federal
22 || Mafia markets other Schiff produéts, materials and services, many of which are related to the
23| tax scheme. Therefore, even under the narrow “core” definition of commercial speech, the

24 false, misleading or deceptive elements of that speech would be enjoinable.

25 Significantly, however, as previously discussed, the injunction in Estate Preservation

26| reaches beyond “advertising” to include the “promoting, marketing or selling” of the scheme. |

22
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1 | In considering the promotional, marketing and sales methods used in the scheme, the Estate

2 | Preservation court found a nexus between the training manual and the ma..rketing of the tax

3 | scheme. 202¥-3d-at-1097. The-court did-not-address thenheuhe manual contained specific

4 || advertising for the scheme, but held tﬁat it “made numerous representations about the

5 || permissibility of tax deductions and credits purportedly available 1o [the trusts].” Id. In similar
6 || fashion, portions of The Federal Mafia are linked to the marketing of Schiff’s tax scheme. The
7 |l 'tax scheme’s promotions identify the book as the starting point of the program, and represent

8 || that “{ijt shows you how to file the zero return, stop your wage withholding, and explains the

9 | basics.” Cantrell, at 062. Other advertising for the book states thar it “provides the information
10} and documents iequired to immediately stop your wage withholding, and 1o file a request for a
11§ refund of all the taxes you paid.” Cantrell, at 018. The Federal Mafia is marketed as part of

12§ almost all-of Schiff’s instructional packages. Consistent with BEstate Preservation, therefore,

13 'The Federal Mafia’s commercial speech nature includes the training-manual characteristics of
14§ -the book (including instructions and materials regarding the false filings of zero returns and

15§ submissions of W-4s) that further the promotion, marketing and sales of the overall tax scheme.
16 The court has further support for applying a commercial speech definition reaching the
17§ “promoting, marketing, or selling” of the scheme from the Fifth Circuit. In United States v.

18} Smith, ..657 F. Supp. 646 (W.D. La. 1986), aff"d, 814 F.2d 1086 (5th Cir. 1987), the Fifth

19 Circuit affirmed an injunction on the basis of the district court opinion which prohibited the
20 mé;rketing and sale of a manual (including forms and instructions) authored and published by
21| defendant on how to establish unlawful trusts, along with various services to customers. The
22} district court determined that defendant’s First Amendment rights were fully protected so long
23| as the injunction did not “proscribe all commercial speech, but [was] limited to specific

24| representations concerning tax benefits which are misleacling.” 657 F. Supp. at 658. The Smnith
251 court observed that in Buttorff, 761 F.2d at 1066 (the case quoted in Estate Preseryation), a
26| First Amendment challenge was rejected “because Eutto-rff‘s representations concerning

23
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purported tax benefits were made in an effort to promote and sel} certain packaged trust forms

and personal sefvices, all for profit to Buttorff.” 657 F. Supp. at 658. Likewise, those

representations-in- The Federal Mafia-which-promote-the-use-of the tax scheme. for profit td

Schiff are comrmercial speech not shielded by the First Amendment.

The ACLU next argues that the cases cited by the government in which printed
materials are banned involve only marketing of the materials in face-to-face contacts or through
paid memberships; whereas The Federal Mafia is sold mdependemly in bookstores or online to
the public and is neither a direct part of the scheme nor marketing for it. According to the
ACLU, Schiff’s marketing of The Federal Mafia through impersonal channels in which it can
stand alone from the scheme sets it apart from the schemes in other cases. This distinction,
however, is unsound.

- . The Federa] Mafia, while being marketed openly-to-the public through Freedom Books
bookstore and online, is also advertised and sold in Schiff’s live and taped serninars and
instructional packages as “the starting point” for the scheme. Far from containing merely
commentary, information and expression of opinion regarding the legitimacy of the tax system,
the book is, in part, 2 how-to manual directed to specific individuals seeking instructions,
sample forms, and attachable affidavits to be used in the filing of false income tax rerurns and
submission of false W-4s. Morever, the information refers the reader to other materials,
seminars and personal. assistance to achieve that end. The book does not provide information
or advocacy on tax reform in general, and then leave the reader to act on his own judgment, or
consider the advice of legitimate tax professionals before engaging in conduct of legal
significance. Rather, it is part of the effort to sell for profit Schiff’s materials and services. In
this regard, The Federal Mafia hardly stands alone, but by its very essence is closely connected
to the scheme expressly and financially. Seg¢ Smith, 657 B. Supp. ar 658 (discussing Buttorff).

Nor is the court persuaded by the ACLU’s argument that Estate Preservation and other §

7408 cases cited by the government involve the marketing of materials only in face-to-face or

24
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1 | membership contexts. In Estate Preservation, the promoter published the training manual to
2 market the trusts, and also conducted seminars where he advised customers, 'In White, the
3 scheme included both the sale of packets of materials, and separate meetings where the group
4 instructed individuals on harassment techniques. See also United States v. Bamett, 667 F.2d
5 | 835 (9" Cir. 1982) (rejecting First Amendment challenge to conviction involving drug
g | manufacturing instructions mailed to countless customers with whom defendant had no.
7 | personal contact); Buttorff, 572 F.2d at 622-23 (affirming, despite First Amendment challenges,
g || convictions for providing 1ax-evasion information at “large public gatherings” to participants
g || whom the defendants did not personally meet); Smith, 657 F. Supp. at 649-50 (ménual
10} marketed separately from other aspects of program).
11 The ACLU also overstates its claim that the government has cited only cases involving
12| materials that are exclpsively part of the scheme, rather than containing a combination of
13§ protected and unprotected speech. In Estate Preservation, the coﬁrt fomnédla ban on the
14 distribution of the training manual even though the district court found only four of numerous
15 | representations contained false statements about the trusts’ tax benefits. 202 F.3d at 1099;
16{ United States‘ v. Bstate Preservation Serv., 38 F. Supp.2d 846, 851 (E.D. Cal. 1998). See also |
17| Raymond, 228 F.3d 804 (rejecting First Amendment challenge as it related to injunction on the
18 marketing or sale of a three-volume set of materials which included both information regarding
19| general tax-protest principles, and forms and instructions to guide the purchaser through
2o submission of W;4 forms claiming exempt status, the filing of IRS refunds requests for prior
21 { years, and the filing of tax returns to reflect no income 1ax liability); Smith, 657 F. Supp. at 649’
25|l (manual “reviews the characteristics and prescribes the means to create various types of trusts,
23| toinclude the family preservation frust”). |
24 Finélly, to the extent that thg contents of The Federal Mafja identify Schiff as a tax
og || consultant, publicize his tax-related background and qualifications, and promote, market or sell
2@ | his advice, the book falls within the fraudulent tax-advice standard of Estate Preservation,
25




,JUN—,,18—_~200..3. Nl;iD 07:538 AM US ATTORNEYS OFFICE FAX NO. 7023886787

B P 28/3¢
@ S @
1 | Based on these considerations, the court finds that the commercial speech and tax advice
2 || aspects of the scheme (including those contained in The Federal Mafia) can be enjoined 1o the
3 .s&c_r_;t that they are false, misleading or deceptive. -
4 B.  Incitement
5 It is well-settled that the First Amendment protects an individual’s right to disagree with
6 the law and to advocate the violation of a law. Brandenburg v, Ohio, 395 U.S. 444, 447 (1969).
7 || Thereis no protection; however, for speech or advocacy that is directed roward producing
g || imminent lawless action, Id. (The government may forbid advocacy of law violation “where
g | such advocacy is directed to inciting or prodxlxcing imminent lawless action and is likely to
10 incite or produce such action.”). Moreover, “[tjhe mere abstract teaching lof the moral
11 | propriety or even moral necessity for a resort to force and violence, is not the samcI: as preparing
12§ agroup for._\._(:iolgm,: zggti,gn_and steeling it to such action.” Id. at 448. The court finds that
13} defendants have gone beyond permissible advocacy by instructing others in a way that is
14] “directed to inciting or producing imminent lawless action.”
15 The stated purpose of Schiff’s scheme is to advise purchasers about how to “legally stop
16l paying taxes.” As discussed previously, however, Schiff’s scheme is anything but legal.
17| Through live and recorded seminars, marerials, and personal assistance, Schiff and his co-
18 || defendants show their customers how to file false tax returns and withholding statements.
19l Schiff supplies his customers with sample forms or fill-in-the-blank forms to be used in the
ool filings. For instance, Schiff’s materials include sample “z¢ro returns™ and advise that they be
21| filed “only by attaching to it our two-page attachment ” Schiff’s encouragement of customers
97| thar “income tax is voluntary,” and his assurances that “[f]or income tax purposes, you can
23| legally report ‘zero’ income and pay no income taxes regardless of how much you might have
24l eamed,” or that customers can “legally stop paying taxes,” using his program, in combination
25 with the direct faciliration of filing false retums and exempt withholding forms, moves Schiff's
26 form of advocacy into the realm of inciternent. See Kaun, 827 F.2d at 1151 (tax group “may
26
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not incite other [members] or would-be members to understate their tax liability or avoid

paying taxes by means of the false and frivolous theories . . .”.); Raymond, 228 F.3d at 815;

United States v. geuéx, 769 F.2d 215, 217 (4th Cir. 1985) (no First Amendment protection for

telling listeners “what to do and how to prepare the [tax] forms” and supplying them with [tax]
forms and matenals, even though seminars were dedicated to the belief “that the federal

income tax is unconstitutional as applied to wages. . . . It was no theoretical discussion of non- -

.compliance with laws; action was urged; the advice was heeded, and false [rax] forms were

filed™); United States v. Buttorff, 572 F.2d 619, 624 (8th Cir.) (affirming crirninal conviction

for aiding and abetting others to violaie tax laws; defendants’ speech incited several individuals
to undertake imminent lawless action), cert. denied, 437 U.S. 906 (1978); Nat. Commodity and
Barter Ass'n/Nat, Commodity Exch. v. United States, 843 F. Supp. 655 (D. Colo. 1993) (“[Tlhe
NCBA went beyond advocaﬁng nonpaymenlt of taxes in general.”), aff’d, 42 F.3d 1406'(10th

'Cir. 1994), cert. denied, 516 U.S. 807 (1995).

Furthermore, the government has presented evidence that Schiff’s tax scheme actually
persuaded others to violate the law, The IRS identified nearly 5,000 zero-income federal
income tax returns filed by some 3,100 customers of Schiff’s organization during the past three

years using Schiff’s rwo-page attachment referenced in The Federal Mafia, supplied with its

| pnrchaée, and identified by promotional materials as-a requirement to-the filing of the zero-

income taX return tutcréd by The Pederal Mafia and other of Schiff’s instructional services. If
that circumstantial connection were not enough, Schiff’s own witness at the preliminary
injunction hearing testified that he obtained the zero-income return that he filed from The

Federal Mafia. See Kaun, 827 F.2d at 1151 n. 3 (no need to address whether injunction reached

mere advocacy of non-payment of taxes “because [defendant’s] activities did in fact lead to
lawless action™).
The ACLU suggests that The Federal Mafia, standing alone and sold to the public

separately from other Schiff’s services and products, is too removed to pose a risk of incitement

27
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1 1 to imminent unlawful conduct. First of all, as previously discussed in section IILA., speech is
2 { not insulated by the First Amendment merely because it is impersonally disseminated to a wide
3 audie:nce. Morever, in this case, because of the interrelated nature of the book and other
4 | ongoing aspects of the scheme, a Brandenburg analysis of the book in isclation would be rather
5 || unrealistic. The Federal Mafia incorporates the scheme, It contains all of the instructions,
g | sample forms and attachments necessary for the filing of the false tax forms. According to
7 I Schiff, it “provides thé information and documents required to immediately stop your wage
g | withholding, and to file a request for a refund of all the taxes you paid,” and “shows you how to
g | file the zero refurn, stop your wage withhold{ng, and explains the basics.” Those portions of'
1b 'Fh e Federal Mafia are inherently linked to the scheme’s design and purpo.se" and are cenu-allyl
11 | intertwined with and instrumental in the overall scheme. See United States v. Me;udelsohn. 896
12| F-2d 1183, 1186 (9th Cir..1990) (defendaﬁts disseminated a computer program that assisted
13} others to record and analyze bets on sporting events; program was “too instrumental in and
14§ intertwined with the performance of cﬁminal activity to retain first amendment protection™).
15| Thus, the book retains its intrinsic relationship to the scheme whether it is packaged or
16 marketed with or without other Schiff products or services.
17 But the government’s showing of imminence stemming from a reading of The Federal
18 [|~Mafia goes even further. The govemment’s evidence includes-Schiff's advertising containing
) “yitious testimonials of individuals whioclaim to have avoided paying taxes by using nothing
20 | more than The Federa] Mafia, Cantrell, at 029, 030, 031, and 035-036, Morever, while the
71§ government may not have shown that any particular one of the 3,000 taxpayers to have filed
9o | zero-income returns used The Federal Mafia, exclusively, a strong inference of that conclusion
23} can be drawn from the exactness of the over 5,000 forms filed and those furnished in or through
24| the book. See White, 769 F.2d at 512 (“The government had presented evidence of at least
o5 | fifteen federal income tax returns for the 1982 calendar year filed in the St. Paul district which
26|l appeared to be based upon [the plan].”). This inference is further strengthened by Schiff’s

28
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marketing of the boak. In Schiff’s internet advertising, he identifies The Federal Mafia as

nccessary to “show(] you how to file the zero rewum, stop your wage witﬁholding, and explain(]}
me_ basics, ”” while refernng to the seminars as recommended: “It’s good for you to get a
Seminar, either live, casseite, or on video.” Cantrell, at 062. Simply put, Schiff, by the very
words used to promote his wares, settles the question of the imminence of unlawful action
induced by The Federal Mafia.

Therefore, the injunction will proscribe speech that incites others to violate the tax laws,
including the evasion of assessment and payrnent of taxes,

.C. Illegal Conduct

The First Amendment does not protect conduct which uses speech as part of a criminal

transaction. See United States v. Mendelsohn, 896 F.2d 1183, 1186 (9th Cir. 1990) (holding

Brandenburg inapplicable to a conviction for conspiring to transport.and aiding and abetting the.
interstate transportation of wagering paraphernalia). The Fourth Circuit has elaborated: |

[Tlhe law is now well established that the First Amendment and Brapdenburg’s
“imminence” requirement in particular, generally poses little obstacle to the punishment
of speech that constitutes criminal axdmg and abetting, because “culpability in such
cases is premised, not on defendants’ ‘advocacy’ of criminal conduct, but on
defendants’ successful efforts to assist others by detailing to them the means of
accomphshmg the cnmes

Rlce v. Paladin En;ers o Igc 128 F 3d 233 246 (4th Cu' 1997)‘3 (quotmg Depanment of

Justice, “Report on the Avax}_gpllxty of Bomb-Makmg Informatxon the Extent to Which Its'
Dissemination is Controlled by Federal Law, and the Extent to Which Such Dissemination May
Be Subject to Regulation Consistent with the First Amendment to the Constitution™ 37 (April
1997)), cert. denied, 523 U.S. 1074 (1998). See also Laurence H. Tribe, American

Constitutional Law 837 (2d ed. 1988) (“[T]he law need not treat differently the crime of one

man who sells a bomb to terrorists and that of another who publishes an instructional manual

Bput anonher way, Brandenburg may be relevant only if the act of selling information
could be prosecuted regardiess of whether there was proof that anyone used the information,

29
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4 || for terrorists on how to build their owh bombs out of old Volkswagen parts.”); Greenawalt,
2 1 Speech, Crime, and the Uses of Language 85 (1989) (“[Tlhe justifications for free speech thai
3. applyi_;o speakers do not reach communications that are simply means to gef a crime
a || successfully committed.”); United States v. Varoni, 435 F.2d 758, 762 (6th Cir. 1970)
5 | (“[Slpeechisnot protected by the First Amendment when it is the very vehicle of the crime
g f| itself.”). .
7 In United Statg‘s v. Bamett, 667 F.2d 835, 842 (9th Cir. 1982), the defendant argued that
g | he was immune, under the First Amendment, from search for evidence of the sale of printed
g || instructions for the manufacture of an illcgal‘ substance. The court derided, as a “specious
10 syllogism" with “no support in the law” the defendant’s argument that the First Amendment |
11| protects the sale of the instruction manual simply because the First Amendment pfotects the
12 written word. Id. at 842. In holding that the First Amendment does not provide a defense to
13| the use of printed speech in encouraging and counseling others in the commission of a crime,
14| the Bamett court cited the language of IButtorff, 576 F.2d 619, in which defendants were
15 | convicted of aiding and abetting persons who filed false or fraudulent tax retums after hearing
16| defendants address a public meeting about ways to avoid payment of taxes, including
17 || submitting false exemption forms to stop allowances:
181 - Although the speeches here do not incite the type-of imminent lawless activity referred
to criminal syndicalism cases, the defendants did go beyond mere advocacy of tax ‘
19l reform. They explained how to avoid withholding and their speeches and explanations
incited several individuals to activity that violated federal law and had the potential of
20 substantially hindering the administration of the revenue. This speech is not entitled to
first amendment protection, and, as discussed above, was sufficient action to constitute
21 aiding and abetting the filing of false or fraudulent withholding forms. :
22 576 F2d a1 624. | | |
23 Likewise, in United States v. Freeman, 761 F.2d 549 (9th Cir, 1982), cert. denied, 476
24 U.S. 1120 (1986), the Ninth Circuit concluded that the defendant could be held criminally
25 liable for counseling tax evasion at seminars held in protest of the tax laws, even though the
56 I speech that served as the predicate for the conviction “spr{ang] from the anterior motive to
30
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1 || effect political or social change.” Id. at 551. The defendant claimed that he did nothing more
2 || than advocate tax noncompliance as an abstract idea, or at most as a remote éct, and that the
q || First Amendment therefore barred his prosecution. Id. at 552. The court noted, however, that
4 || “[tlhere was ... substantial evidence of Freeman's use of words of incitement quite proximate
' g || tothe crime of filing false returns, words both intended and likely to produce an imminent
g || criminal act.” Id. at 552. The court further rejected defendant’s argument that the legality of
7 |l .the transaction he proposed was unsettled, and therefore, the likelihood of an imminent
g || violation could not be established: *“‘[T}he falsity of the returns prepared under Freeman's
g || instructions and the concomitant illegality of their filing are manifest.” 14"
10 Bamett and Freeman were relied on heavily by the Fourth Circuit in Rice. 128 F.3d 233.
11 {| In that case, the court ruled that a “hit man” instruction book was not entitled to protection
12 || under the First Amendment’s free speech clause as abstract advocacy. Id. at 243 (“[Wlhile
‘ 13] even speech advocating lawlessness has long enjoyed protections under the First Amend:ﬁent,
14| itis equally well established that speech which, in its effect, is tantamount to legitimately
15 proscribable non-expressive conduct may itself be legitimately proscribed.”). That book
16| methodically and comprehensively prepared and steeled its audience to specific criminal
17 I, conduct through detailed instructions on the commission of criminal conduct. 1d. at 263-65.
13 Not unforeseeably, other circuits have recognized that the First Amendment does not
191 shield criminal conduct in tax schemes which take, in whole or in part, the form of speech. See
20| United States v, Fleschner, 98 F.3d 155, 158-59 (4th Cir. 1996) (defendants who instructed and
21| advised meeting anendees to file unlawful tax returns were not entitled to First Amendment
22
23 On the defendant’s entitlement to free speech jury instructions, the court held that a First
Amendment instruction was required only for those counts in which there was evidence that the
24 speaker “directed his comments at the unfairness of the tax laws generally, without soliciting or
counseling a violation of the law in an immediate sense [and] made statements that, at least
25 || arguably, were of abstract generality, remote from advice to commit a specific criminal act.” 761
_F.2d at 551-52. As to those counts which the defendant, through his speech, directly assisted in
25| the preparation and review of false tax returns, the court held that the defendant was not entitled
to a First Amendment instruction at all. Id.
31
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Jury instruction because “[t}the defendants’ words and acts were not remote from the

commission of the 'cn'minal acts.”), cert. denied, 521 U.S. 1106 (1997); Kelley, 769 F;2d at 217

. {no First Amendment protection for telling listeners “what to do and how to prepare the {tax]

forms™ and supplying them with {tax] forms and materials, even though seminars were
dedicated to the belief “that the federal income tax is unconstitutional as applied to wages. . . .
It was no theoretical discussion of non-compliance with laws; action was urged; the advice was
heeded, and false [taxj forms were filed”); United States v. Moss, 604 E.2d 569, 571 (8th Cir.
1979) (First Amendment does not protect defendant's speech in which he challenged
constitutionality of federal income tax laws alnd described bow to avoid the federal withholding
tax, where, motivated by defendant's speech, employees filed falsified W-4 forms and were l
prosecuted for violating statute pertaining to f;audulent withholding exemption ceﬁiﬁcate).
cert. denied, 444 U.S. 1071 (1980). -

In this case, the government has presented evidence showing that the scheme’s stated
purpose was, in part, to assist in the coh@ssion of a ¢crime, even though the promoters may
disagree that such assistance is criminal.'” The government has also shown that the scheme
was targeted toward, and rgached, individuals who actually employed it 1o file false zero
income tax returns and falsely claim exempt withholding status. Therefore, to the extent that

the injunction proscribes such conduct by organizers, promoters and marketers of the scheme,

the First Amendment is ot a barrier. — - T T e e e
V. Conclusion
Based on the above, the court finds that a § 7408 preliminary injunction can be
fashioned in a way that is not an impermissible prior restraint on defendants’ protected speech. -
The first paragraph of the preliminary injunction is generally patterned on the first

paragraph of the injunction approved in Bstate Preservation. The second and third paragraphs

150f course, this is not equivalent to proving beyond a reasonable doubt that Schiff is
guilty of a cnminal offense. Any such determination would have to be made in the context of a
criminal proceeding.

32

P. 34/37




JUN-18-2003 WED 08:01 AM US ATTORNEYS OFFIGE

FAX NO. 7023886 87

P. 35/37

1 § enjoin activities subject to penalty under 26 U.S.C. §§ 6700 and 6701, and incorporate the

2 { language of those statutes. The fourth paragraph reaches advertising and maxket'mg of false or

5 -4 misleading tax positions, and is generally patterned after portions of injunctions affirmed in

4 || Kaun, and White. The fifth paragraph prohibits aiding and abetting, and the sixth paragraph

5 | proscribes incitement to imminent unlawful conduct. The seventh paragraph prevents

g | instructing or assisting others to interfere with the administration and enforcement of the

7 || internal revenue laws. The eight paragraph is authorized under § 7407. Paragraphs nine, ten

g | and eleven enjoin conduct subject 1o penalty or injunction under statute.

) In drawing up the preliminary injunction, the court is cautious not to limit defendants’

10} legitimate tax-related activities or advocacy.

11] VI.  ORDER OF PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION

12 - = Based on the foeregoing factual findings and legal conclusions, the court ORDERS that

13 defendants Irwin Schiff, Cynthia Neun, and Lawrence N. Cohen, individually and all doihg |

14| business as Freedom Books, www.paynoincometax.com, and www_ischiff.come, and any

15 similar entities, and their agents, servants, employees, artorneys, and those persons in active

16 concert or participation with them who receive actual notice of this Order are enjoined, pending

17} the final disposition of this matter, from:

181 (1 ‘Organizing,‘promoting:-marketing or selling;-or assisting-in organizing, promoting,
marketing or selling, any plan or arrangement which advises or encourages taxpayers to

19 attempt to violate interidl revenue laws or unlawfully evadeé the assessment or collection
of their federal tax liabilities, including those that promote, sell, or advocate the use of

20 the ““zero income™ tax return, and the use of false withholding forms; ‘

21 (3}  Engaging in conduct subject to penalty under 26 U.S.C. § 6700, including organizing or
selling a plan or arrangement and making or furnishing a statement regarding the

29 excludability of income that they know or have reason to know is false or frandulent as
to any material matter;

23 (3)  Engaging in conduct subject to penalty under 26 U.S.C. § 6701, including preparing

24 an/or assisting in the preparation of a document related to a matter material to the
internal revenue laws that they know (or have reason to believe) will result in an

25 understatement of tax liability;

26 4 Advertising, marketing, or promoting any false, misleading or deceptive tax Pposition in
any media for the purpose of advising or encouraging taxpayers to untawfully evade the

33
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assessment or payment of federal income taxes, including the positions that (1) persons
can legally stop paying taxes or become tax free by using the plan or arrangement; (2).
federa] income tax is voluntary; (3) there is no law requiring anyone to pay income tax;
' (4) there is no income tax, only a profits tax; () it is legal to report zero income
. Jegardiess of what you may have earned, or to use false withholding forms; (6) Schiff’s
personal services as witness or brief writer will be materially helpful in defending
criminal prosecution; or any other any other false, misleading or deceptive tax position;

—
; .
!

(5)  Assisting others to violate the tax laws, including the evasion of assessment or payment
of taxes, through any means, including selling services, books or other materials that
provide direction about how to fill out fraudulent or false tax forms or other tax
documents to be filed with the IRS or other entities;

(6)  Inciting others to violate the tax laws, including the evasion of assessment and payment
of taxes; ‘

(7)  Instructing or assisting others to hinder or disrupt the enforcement of internal revenue

~ laws by filing frivolous lawsuits, taking frivolous positions in an effort to impede IRS.

audits and Collection Due Process Hearings, or engaging in other conduct intended to
interfere with the administration and enforcement of the internal revenue laws;

(8)  Preparing or assisting in the preparation of any federal income tax return for any other
person; S

(9) Engaging in any conduct subject to penalty under 26 U.S.C. § 6694 (preparing any part
of a retutn or claim for refund that includes an unrealistic position);

(10) Engaging in any conduct subject to penalty under 26 U.S.C. § 6695 (failing to sign and
furnish the correct identifying number on tax returns that they prepare); or

(11 ?ggzging in any other activity subject to injunction or penalty under 26 U.S.C. §§ 7407,
or 6695, including fraudulent or deceprive conduct that substantially interferes
with the proper administration of the internal revenue laws.
--Purther, pursuant to 26 U.S.C. §§.7402 and 7407, the Court ORDERS that the defendants, if
“they have not previously done so, provide their completé list of people or other entities who bought
any ptoduét or service, including tax-return preparation, from them or Freedom Boqks from January
1, 1999, through the present, including names, addresses, phone numbers, e-mail addresses, and
social security numbers or employer identification numbers, to counsel for the United States within
ten days of the date of this Order. Schiff, Neun, and Cohen must each individually file a sworn
certificate of compliance stating that he or she has complied with this portion of the Order, within

ten days of the date of this Order.
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* Further, pursuant o 26 US.C. § 7402, the Court ORDERS that, within 10 days of the date of
entry of this order, Schiff, Neun, and Cohen must place this Order, in it8 entiicty, on the

www.paynoincametax com, and www.jschiff.com “Home” pages (i.c. the first page seen when

accessing the websites at the listed addresses), prominently featured at the top so that it is easily
visible,

Further, pursuant to 26 U.S.C. § 7402, the Court ORDERS that Schiff, Neun, and Cohen, at

.their own expense, provide a copy of this Order to each of their current customers (and former

customers since January 1, 1999) within ten days of the date of this Order. Schiff, Neun, and Cohen
must each individually file a sworn certificate of compliance stating that he or she has complied

with this portion of the Order, within ten days of the date of this Order.

SO ORDERED this __£ 3% day of June, 2003.
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